#### CASE NO. 84762

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

#### JOHN DATTALA

Appellant

Electronically Filed Aug 21 2022 12:51 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

#### PRECISION ASSETS; ACRY DEVELOPMENT LLC; WFG NATIONAL TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY

Respondents

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON APPEAL**

#### For Appellant JOHN DATTALA

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada

District Court Case # A-19-794335-C

The Honorable District Court Judge Adriana Escobar

BENJAMIN B. CHILDS, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 3946 318 S. Maryland Parkway Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 385-3865 Attorney for Appellant JOHN DATTALA

### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The basis of appellate jurisdiction is NRAP 3A(b)(1), appeal after final judgment. Appeal was timely taken. The final judgment resolving all claims between all parties was filed May 10, 2022 with Notice of Entry of Order being filed and served by electronic service on May 11, 2022. [Joint Appendix "JA" Vol 1, 1878]. Petitioner John Dattala [Dattala] timely filed a Notice of Appeal on May 17, 2022 within 30 days pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1). [JA Vol 1, 1887]

### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The matter should be remain in the Nevada Supreme Court as it addresses matters of public policy in deciding if title to real property acquired by fraud or forgery can be transferred. It also involves direct conflict between statutes.

The case is presumptively assigned to Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(5) judgment of less than \$250,000 in a tort case.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- ISSUE 1. Is title to real property acquired by fraud or forgery void?
- ISSUE 2. Was there material evidence of that Lillian Medina was an agent of WFG NATIONAL TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY [WFG]?
- ISSUE 3. Did the Court abuse it's discretion by denying reconsideration of its decision regarding quiet title?
- ISSUE 4. Did the district court abuse it's discretion by denying reconsideration of its decision regarding agency?
- ISSUE 5. Did the Court abuse it's discretion by denying declaratory relief to Dattala?
- ISSUE 6. Resolving conflict between NRS 111.025 and NRS 111.175 (deeds obtained by fraud) and NRS 111.180 (bona fide purchaser statute).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Complaint was filed May 7, 2019 [JA Vol 1, 1] when Dattala realized that in the preceding few weeks he had been swindled out of title to three properties, as he discovered afterward by Bursey [Bursey] as the buyer, with the help of notary Lilian Medina [Medina]. WFG National Title Insurance Company [WFG] described Medina as its "notary / signing agent". [JA Vol 5, 1132:10] Dattala got ownership of one property back by Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law and Judgment [FFCL] filed October 15. 2020 [JA Vol 7,1552 - 1556]. He could do this because Bursey was prevented from selling it due to Dattala's immediate recording of a lis pendens. Title to the other two Subject Properties, being 50 Sacramento Drive and 59 Sacramento Drive in Las Vegas, remained at issue in the case.

Just before trial, the Court granted summary judgment in favor of Precision Assets and Acry Development, LLC [JA Vol 7, 1698 - 1712 and Vol 8, 1890-1891] and also in favor of WFG. [JA Vol 7, 1718 -1727] Subsequent express findings of material facts contained in the FFCL filed October 15, 2021 preclude summary judgment but were ignored by the Court when raised [JA Vol 7, 1496-1531 and Vol 8, 1731 -1779] and reconsideration of both summary judgment motions was denied. [JA Vol 8, 1826 - 1838 and 1860 - 1877]

Finally, Dattala's Motion for Declaratory Relief regarding title to the two remaining properties [JA Vol 7, 1597 - 1677] was denied. [JA Vol 8, 1842 - 1859]

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2016, Dattala met Bursey in Las Vegas. Bursey was from Detroit. Bursey asked Dattala to consider selling three parcels to Bursey. In the latter part of 2018, Bursey represented to Dattala that: (1) Bursey's father had died (2) Bursey expected an inheritance from his father's estate (3) Bursey wanted to buy Dattala's three properties and would pay him when he received his inheritance (4) Bursey needed documents signed and notarized to hire a property management company for 59 Sacramento. [JA Vol 7, 1536:31 - 1537:26] Bursey's

representations were false and were made to induce Dattala to enter into sales agreements and to sign and have notarized a document, which signature page was swapped with a Deed of Reconveyance that Bursey recorded to make it appear that a \$150,000 Deed of Trust encumbering 50 Sacramento had been satisfied. [JA Vol 7, 1538:32 -1539:6] Bursey defrauded Dattala "into signing a Quitclaim Deed for the 59 Sacramento Property". [JA Vol 7,1540:2 - 3 and 1536:31 - 1537:26] Bursey forged Dattala's signature [JA Vol 7,1539:13-18] Bursey's fraud didn't stop there. Bursey then immediately signed deeds and received payment from selling the two Subject Properties, facilitated by WFG. [JA Vol 7, 1540:24 - 1541:2] All of these actions happened between April 5 and May 2, 2019. [JA Vol 7, 1538:27 - 1539:28 and 1540:24 - 1541:2]

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court ignored it's own factual findings in the October 15, 2021 FFCL, which were appealable and were not appealed, and thus are final. Dattala was the victim of fraud and forgery. [JA Vol 7,1540:2 - 3, 1536:31 - 1537:26] and 1539:13-18] Nevada does not allow a thief to transfer title. This is based on unambiguous statutory authority enacted over a 150 years ago. The forged and fraudulently obtained deeds, and all subsequent deeds, are void.

As to WFG, Medina was expressly found by the Court to be the agent to WFG, that her actions were taken while acting as WFG's agent within the scope of her agency, that Dattala was within the calls of protected persons of NRS 240.120(1)(d), and that "WFG is liable for damages Dattala incurred as a result of Medina's negligence ...". [JA Vol 7, 1546:8-18] WFG itself described her as an "agent" [JA Vol 5, 1132:10] and the Court was directly pointed to that fact [JA Vol 9, 1910:7-11] but cavalierly dismissed WFG's themselves describing Medina as their "signing agent" as "substance over form" [JA Vol 9, 1910:23] Isn't that a jury question? Summary judgment should have been granted in favor of Dattala against WFG, not the other way around.

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for issues regarding summary judgment is de novo. "This court reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo." <u>Wood v. Safeway, Inc.</u>, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). "Summary judgment is appropriate . . . when the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no 'genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." <u>Id.</u> (quoting NRCP 56(c)). In reviewing an order granting summary judgment, "the evidence, and any reasonable inferences drawn from it, must be viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party."<u>Id.</u>

The district court's factual findings are reviewed for substantial evidence and its legal conclusions are reviewed de novo. <u>Weddell v. H2O,</u> <u>Inc.</u>, 128 Nev. 94, 101, 271 P.3d 743, 748 (2012). Review of statutory interpretation is *de novo*. Liberty Mut. v. <u>Thomasson</u>, 130 Nev 27, 30, 317 P.3d 831, 833 (2014) (citing <u>Washoe</u> <u>Cnty. v. Otto</u>, 128 Nev. 424, 430-31, 282 P.3d 719, 724 (2012)); <u>Cromer v.</u> <u>Wilson</u>, 126 Nev. 106, 109, 225 P.3d 788, 790 (2010) ("The construction of statutes is a question of law, which we review de novo.").

Standard of review for a motion for reconsideration abuse of discretion. <u>AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Washington</u>, 126 Nev. 578, 589, 245 P.3d 1190, 1197 (2010). <u>Krisch v. Traber</u>, 134 Nev. 163, 166, 414 P.3d 818, 821 (2018) holds "... a district court is free to revisit and reverse its own rulings upon request of a party," Further, a district court "may reconsider a previously decided issue if substantially different evidence is subsequently introduced or the decision is clearly erroneous." <u>Masonry &</u> <u>Tile Contractors Ass'n of S. Nev. v. Jolley, Urga & Wirth, Ltd.</u>, 113 Nev. 737, 741, 941 P.2d 486, 489 (1997).

///

///

B. QUIET TITLE

As to the quiet title and declaratory relief causes of action, titles to the two Subject Properties were obtained by fraud [JA Vol 7,1537:13-25, 1538:27 - 6, and 1540:2-3] and forgery [JA Vol 7, 1539:7-12] and are

therefore void pursuant to NRS 111.025 and NRS 111.175:

NRS 111.025 Conveyances void against purchasers are void against their heirs or assigns. Every conveyance, charge, instrument or proceeding declared to be void by the provisions of this chapter, as against purchasers, shall be equally void as against the heirs, successors, personal representatives or assigns of such purchaser

NRS 111.175 Conveyances made to defraud prior or subsequent purchasers are void. Every conveyance of any estate, or interest in lands, or the rents and profits of lands, and every charge upon lands, or upon the rents and profits thereof, made and created with the intent to defraud prior or subsequent purchasers for a valuable consideration of the same lands, rents or profits, as against such purchasers, shall be void.

The Court awarded Precision Assets free and clear title to the two

Subject Properties, finding it to be a bona fide purchaser pursuant to NRS

111.180. Acry Development LLC is Precision Asset's partner and had a

derivative interest in 50 Sacramento as a purported lender.

NRS 111.180 Bona fide purchaser: Conveyance not deemed fraudulent in favor of bona fide purchaser unless subsequent purchaser had actual knowledge, constructive notice or reasonable cause to know of fraud.

- 1. Any purchaser who purchases an estate or interest in any real property in good faith and for valuable consideration and who does not have actual knowledge, constructive notice of, or reasonable cause to know that there exists a defect in, or adverse rights, title or interest to, the real property is a bona fide purchaser.
- 2. No conveyance of an estate or interest in real property, or charge upon real property, shall be deemed fraudulent in favor of a bona fide purchaser unless it appears that the subsequent purchaser in such conveyance, or person to be benefitted by such charge, had actual knowledge, constructive notice or reasonable cause to know of the fraud intended.

First, what does the statute mean that the conveyance is not

"deemed fraudulent in favor of the bona fide purchaser"? In this case the

fraud was committed by the preceding purchaser, Bursey, who was

Precision Assets' seller. Clearly within the specific definitions of NRS

111.025 and 111.175. It's unclear what the phrase "deemed fraudulent in

favor of he bona fide purchaser" even means, since the existence of a

fraudulent or forged deed in the chain of title would NOT be in favor of the

current purchaser. It would be the opposite, it would be against the

subsequent purchaser.

Second, as set forth below, Precision Assets had "constructive notice of, or reasonable cause to know that there exists a defect in, or adverse rights, title or interest to, the real property".

NRS 111.180 has been on the statute books since 1861. It was revised in 2013 to protect a situation where a home is foreclosed on, then sold to a new purchaser and there was a defect in the foreclosure process. The new version protects a purchaser who does not have "actual knowledge, constructive notice of, or reasonable cause to know that there exists a defect in, or adverse rights, title or interest" to the real property. It goes on to protect a bona fide purchaser unless he had "actual knowledge, constructive notice or reasonable cause to know of the fraud intended."

The legislative history of the basis for the 2013 changes is in the record. [JA Vol 5, 1140 - 1142] The relevant portion is below.

#### Assemblyman Frierson:

Since Mr. Finseth is still there, because it has been such an important issue, and we just threw it out there as a little amendment, I think it is important we get something on the record about why we are doing this. Mr. Finseth, you and I have talked about bona fide purchaser before. This is trying to address the notion that a home is foreclosed on, then sold to a new purchaser and something was wrong with the way the home was foreclosed; this protects the new purchaser who had no inkling of any wrongdoing. We know the home belongs to the new purchaser, and any claims about the inappropriate or improper foreclosure would be between the lender and original homeowner. Is that the situation we are trying to address with this language?

#### **Rocky Finseth:**

Mr. Frierson, you are correct.

The amendment was specifically passed to insulate

foreclosure companies from liability to buyers at foreclosure

sales.

Dattala identified twelve separate red flags placing

Precision Assets on "constructive notice of, or reasonable cause

to know that there exists a defect in, or adverse rights, title or

interest to, the real property". These were discussed in full, with

supporting documentation, before the trial court. [JA Vol 5,1143 -

1146] Here is a non-exhaustive list of warning signs of which Movant was aware when it bought the properties.

\* For 50 Sacramento

Purchase was by assignment of contract. [JA Vol 5,

1194 - 1196 and 1214 - 1219]

The Purchase Agreement to 50 Sacramento had been executed April 1, 2019, [JA Vol 5, 1219] before Bursey was the purported record owner of the property, although his purported ownership interest was acquired by fraud. Bursey recorded his fraudulent Quitclaim Deed to 50 Sacramento April 8, 2019. [JA Vol 6, 1341 - 1346] Notary Bonita Spencer expressly testified the documents Bursey recorded with her purported notary of Dattala's signature were NOT the documents she notarized. [JA Vol 6, 1333:3 - 8] The Court made an express finding that the signature pages of those documents were attached to the Quitclaim Deed and Deed of Reconveyance without Dattala's knowledge. [JA Vol 7, 1538:22-1539:5]

Preliminary Report dated 4/8/2019 stated that Dattala was the title owner [JA Vol 5, 1231-1232]

Preliminary Report dated 4/8/2019 stated the \$150,000

Deed of Trust in favor of Dattala. [JA Vol 5, 1235]

The property tax records were in the name of Dattala [JA Vol 5, 1199-1200], as was the sewer bill [JA Vol 5, 1198] \* For 59 Sacramento

The property tax records were in the name of Dattala [JA Vol 6, 1261 - 1262], as was the sewer bill [JA Vol 6, 1263]

There was a tenant in the 59 Sacramento Property [JA Vol 6, 1281 - 1282, 1286, 1287, 1288, 1289, 1290, 1292 - 1296, 1297]

\* For Both Properties

There was no Real Property Disclosure Form provided for either property as required by NRS 113.130. Completion and service of disclosure form "At least 10 days before residential property is conveyed to a purchaser" cannot be waived. Both properties are residential properties.

The timing is highly suspicious. Bursey was selling and conveying title by Grant, Bargain and Sale Deeds days after obtaining title by Quit Claim Deeds recorded by himself.

The totality of the circumstances surrounding the two property sales can be summarized as a rush sale with both Precision and WFG engaging in intentional non-investigation. Precision Assets was on constructive notice or reasonable cause to know Bursey had, or intended, to commit fraud on Dattala. Starting with Bursey obtaining Quitclaim Deeds with no warranty, recording them himself, then proffering Grant, Bargain and Sale deed only weeks later, to Bursey signing a sales contract before he even recorded his fraudulent deed, to no compliance with NRS Chapter 113 disclosures, to purportedly satisfying a \$150,000 Deed of Trust by selling a house for \$73,540, less than half of that amount. [JA Vol 6, 1346]

Precision Assets chose to proceed with the purchase of properties being on "constructive notice or reasonable cause to know of the fraud intended" by Bursey, which fraud had just been perpetrated within the month, and with the assistance of Medina, WFG's notary. WFG chose to insure the transactions, all without notifying Dattala. This was the subject of Precision Assets' November 5, 2020 cross-claim against WFG [JA Vol 1, 155 -170] which was resolved May 11, 2022. [JA Vol 8, 1878 -1886]

The Nevada Supreme Court has never addressed the conflicts between the competing statutes. Dattala now has a

formal judgment in his favor that states positively that the deeds to Precision's seller were forged and/or obtained by fraud. The Court's ruling in favor of Precision Assets on the quiet title issue brings the conflict between the statutes to the fore.

# 1. STATUTES ARE GIVEN PLAIN MEANING

Platte River Ins. Co. v. Jackson, 137 Nev. Adv. Rep. 82, 500 P.3d 1257, 1258 (Dec 23, 2021) reiterates black letter law of statutory interpretation. "In interpreting a statute, we begin with its plain language. <u>Arguello v. Sunset Station, Inc., 127 Nev. 365,</u> 370, 252 P.3d 206, 209 (2011)" <u>id</u> @ 1259 It goes on to state "We strive to the extent possible to interpret a statute in a matter that avoids 'unreasonable or absurd result[s]' unintended by the Legislature." id @ 1262

Even under the revised wording of NRS 111.180, given the numerous red flags before the purchase [JA Vol 5, 1143 - 1146] summary judgment was precluded as these were all issues of material fact. But the factual findings entered on October 15, 2021 eliminated any doubt about the existence of material facts precluding summary judgment because it's now a fact that the deeds were obtained by Bursey from Dattala by fraud [JA Vol 7, 1536:31 - 1537:26 and 1540:2 - 3] and use of forged signatures. [JA Vol 7, 1539:13-18]

///

# 2. SPECIFIC STATUTE CONTROLS

N.J. v. State (In re N.J.), 134 Nev. 358, 360, 420 P.3d 1029,

1031 (2018) states the general/specific canon.

"When two statutory provisions conflict, this court employs the rules of statutory construction and attempts to harmonize conflicting provisions so that the act as a whole is given effect." State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Logan D.), 129 Nev. 492, 508, 306 P.3d 369, 380 (2013) (internal citations omitted). "Under the general/specific canon, the more specific statute will take precedence and is construed as an exception to the more general statute, so that, when read together, the two provisions are not in conflict, but can exist in harmony." Williams v. State, Dep't of Corr., 133 Nev., Adv. Op. 75, 402 P.3d 1260, 1265 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted); see also Piroozi v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 131 Nev. 1004, 1009, 363 P.3d 1168, 1172 (2015) (providing that "[w]here a general and a special statute, each relating to the same subject, are in conflict and they cannot be read together, the special statute controls" (internal quotation marks omitted)).

NRS 111.025 states "Conveyances void against purchasers are void against their heirs or assigns." NRS 111.175 states "Conveyances made to defraud prior or subsequent purchasers are void". The statutes plain and unambiguous and counsel found no reported cases citing them, despite having been the law since 1861. Not one case.

NRS 111.180 is Nevada's bona fide purchaser statute.

Because NRS 111.025 and NRS 111.175 are statutes focusing specifically on the deeds obtained by fraud, they govern here. This statutory interpretation preserves the harmony of the three statutes. The alternative is that in every conceivable instance the purchase of stolen property gets to keep the stolen property because the perpetrator of the fraud is not going to publicize his criminal act. NRS 111.180 expressly gives the purchaser, and title companies handling conveyances, a huge incentive NOT to investigate the background of title transactions. For the simple reason that investigation would trigger the "actual knowledge, constructive notice or reasonable cause to know of the fraud intended" circumstance in the statute. Just as in this case, Precision Assets and WFG did no investigation, and adopt the Sergeant Schultz "I know nothing" defense. Admittedly it's a funny punch line from a 1960 television sitcom, but it's not a legal defense.

This is why the twelve separate red flags Dattala identified defeats summary judgment [JA Vol 5, 1143 - 1146], and why judgment should be entered in Dattala's favor on the title issues based on the express findings of fraud and forgery in the FFCL filed October 15, 2021. [JA Vol 7, 1532 - 1536] The Court created inconsistent decisions which are irreconcilable. The Court simultaneously made a factual finding that Bursey's deeds to the two properties were forged or obtained by fraud, but that Precision Assets is nevertheless a bona fide purchaser and has clear title.

This is a clear cut case of an irreconcilable internal inconsistency in the ruling of the same court. This came about because of major legal errors. Both NRS 111.025 and NRS 111.175 are clear that title obtained by fraud, and all subsequent transfers, are void.

///

///

### 3. VOID SALE DEFEATS A BONA FIDE PURCHASER

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