IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

JOHN DATTALA,

Appellant,

VS.

PRECISION ASSETS; ACRY DEVELOPMENT LLC; WFG NATIONAL TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondents.

Case No. 84762

Electronically Filed Oct 04 2022 08:09 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department XIV
The Honorable Adriana Escobar, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-19-794335-C

RESPONDENT WFG NATIONAL TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY'S ANSWERING BRIEF

WDICHT FINI AV 9- 7AV LLD

WRIGHT, FINLAY & ZAK, LLP
Christina V. Miller, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 12448
Yanxiong Li, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 12807
7785 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 200
Las Vegas, NV 89117

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

or supervision regarding Medina's notary activities. 7 JA 1721-22, 1724; *see also* 2 JA 270, 308; 5 JA 1122-23, 1131-32. Dattala neither disputed these facts nor presented any contrary facts on summary judgment showing that WFG was itself obligated to perform the notarial acts and delegated said obligation to Medina.⁶ Thus, the notarial acts by Medina were not ratifiable by WFG. *Cf.* Restat 3d of Agency, § 4.03, cmt. b (property owner ratified an unauthorized agreement to lease property where he authorized his agent to negotiate terms of the lease).

Second, absent any showing that WFG was obligated to perform the notarial acts, proof of capacity to ratify becomes impossible. Existence of delegable performance is *sine qua non* to establishing capacity as the ratifying principal. *See* Restat 3d of Agency, § 4.04(1)(b), 3.04(3). The implicit precondition being that the principal must have been obligated itself to perform the act. *See Id.*, § 3.04(3), cmt. c ("A person may delegate performance of an act if its legal consequences for that person are the same whether the act is performed personally or by another"). Because WFG referred its vendor to perform the notarial acts and Dattala presented no

Appellant did not present the Bursey Declaration until after the district court ruled in favor of WFG on summary judgment. As detailed below, the district court did not abuse its discretion in disregarding statements in the Bursey Declaration regarding Medina's representation that she was acting on behalf of WFG on the grounds that it did not constitute previously unavailable evidence and the statements constitute inadmissible hearsay.

evidence WFG was obligated to perform said acts itself, WFG lacked legal capacity to ratify Medina's acts. *See* 7 JA 1720-21.

Third, the mere fact that WFG closed escrow based on Medina's work product is insufficient, in and of itself, to demonstrate actual knowledge of material facts surrounding Medina's notarization. Here again, substantial, undisputed evidence led the district court to find that "WFG did not exercise any degree of supervision over the details of Medina's notarial acts regarding the Affidavit of Guarantor...did not have any control to hire or fire Medina...did not exercise any degree of control over Medina's hours and location of employment." 7 JA 1721-22, 1724; see also 2 JA 270, 308; 5 JA 1122-23, 1131-32. A person who has ratified is not bound by the ratification if it was made without knowledge of material facts about the act of the agent or other actor. Restat 3d of Agency, § 4.06, cmt. b. The burden of establishing that a ratification was made with knowledge is on the party attempting to establish that ratification occurred – here, Dattala. *Id*.

Ratification requires that the principal have actual knowledge, not just notice. *Id.* Thus, WFG must have been "consciously aware" of the material facts; it is not enough that it has reason to know or should know, which are encompassed in the concept of notice. *See* Restat 3d of Agency, § 1.04, cmt. d; *see*, *e.g.*, *Prunty v*. *Arkansas Freightways*, *Inc.*, 16 F.3d 649, 655 (5th Cir.1994) (vice-president ratified

supervisor's sexual harassment of plaintiff; vice-president "not only knew of the sexual harassment, but knew enough about the harassment to realize that [supervisor's] conduct was extreme and outrageous," despite presence of dispute as to precise details communicated to vice-president); Davis v. Mutual Life Ins. Co., 6 F.3d 367, 374 (6th Cir.1993) (insurer ratified agent's fraudulent sales methods when its officers attended agent's presentations and were aware of agent's methods; insurer also had warning from its counsel that agent was providing misleading tax information to prospective investors); Streetscenes L.L.C. v. ITC Entm't Group, Inc., 126 Cal.Rptr.2d 754, 759-760 (Cal. App. 2002) (sufficient evidence film-production company ratified fraud against investors committed by film producer with whom company "had a special relationship, unique to the movie industry, that enabled [producer] to be an executive producer of [company] but allowed him space to do his own deals"; jury could find arrangement was created to give company "deniability" for producer's actions in light of frequent discussions and contacts between company representatives and producer and siting of preproduction work on producer's film on company premises). Therefore, the mere fact that WFG closed escrow using affidavits notarized by Medina is insufficient, as a matter of law, to demonstrate even notice (let alone WFG's actual knowledge) of how Medina performed the allegedly defective notarial acts. Nor did Dattala proffer any evidence contrary to the district court's finding that WFG did not supervise or control how Medina performed the notarial acts at issue. Therefore, Dattala failed to demonstrate any error in the district court's summary judgment determination that no agency relationship existed between Medina and WFG.

B. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Denying Reconsideration.

Dattala's opening brief fails to identify or cogently argue any legal error by the district court in denying reconsideration. Dattala does not discuss how the district court erred in construing the Default Judgment as inapplicable to WFG. Nor does Dattala discuss how the district court erred in disregarding the Bursey Declaration as untimely evidence or, alternatively, as inadmissible hearsay. Dattala should be deemed to have waived any arguments regarding error in the district court's denial of reconsideration. *See, e.g., Maresca*, 103 Nev. at 673, 748 P.2d at 6; *see also Khoury v. Seastrand*, 132 Nev. 520, 530 n.2, 377 P.3d 81, 88 n.2 (2016) (citing NRAP 28(c) and concluding that an issue raised for the first time in an Dattala's reply brief was waived).

To the extent this Court is inclined to review district court's denial notwithstanding, the district court properly denied reconsideration because 1) the Default Judgment does not bind WFG as an answering co-defendant contesting liability as a matter of law; 2) Dattala failed to demonstrate that the Bursey

Declaration constituted newly discovered evidence; and 3) the Bursey Declaration otherwise consisted of inadmissible hearsay. Accordingly, the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying reconsideration of summary judgment.

1. The Default Judgment against Bursey and Medina does not bind WFG as an answering co-defendant contesting liability under the same allegations.

In denying reconsideration based on the Default Judgment, the district court found that "Bursey/Medina Default Judgment was entered because certain allegations by Plaintiff in his complaint were deemed admitted via default against those parties only because they failed to appear and/or participate in the litigation." *See* 8 JA 1831. This is consistent with language in the Default Judgment reciting:

The Court finds that an appropriate sanction for Medina's failure to participate in the case as summarized above, pursuant to EDCR 2.67 and EDCR 2.69, is striking of Medina's answer, entry of default and entry of default judgment. The paragraphs of the SAC that directly address Medina set forth below are deemed admitted. These now are established facts based not only on the fact that Medina's answer has been stricken, but also based the sworn testimony of Dattala to the Court on October 13, 2021 and the documentary exhibits admitted into evidence on October 13, 2021.

7 JA 1543. At the time of the Default Judgment, WFG had already filed its Answer denying the same allegations deemed admitted against Bursey and Medina and successfully moved for summary judgment establishing as to WFG that Plaintiff's allegations of an employee or agency relationship lack merit. *See* 8 JA 1831. None

of these findings are disputed by Dattala.

"Generally, entry of default against one codefendant who fails to answer or whose answer is stricken does not preclude an answering codefendant from contesting liability." LoMastro v. Am. Family Ins. Grp. (Estate of LoMastro), 124 Nev. 1060, 1067, 195 P.3d 339, 344 (2008) (emphasis added). Rather, facts actually litigated should generally trump facts established based on non-participation of a party. See Id., 124 Nev. at 1067, 195 P.3d at 344-45. Such a rule comports with this Court's preference and our state's public policy for deciding cases on the merits. See, e.g., Hansen v. Universal Health Servs., Inc., 112 Nev. 1245, 1247-48, 924 P.2d 1345, 1346 (1996) (citing *Price v. Dunn*, 106 Nev. 100, 105, 787 P.2d 785, 787 (1990); Hotel Last Frontier v. Frontier Prop., 79 Nev. 150, 155, 380 P.2d 293, 295 (1963)); see also Stoecklein v. Johnson Elec., Inc., 109 Nev. 268, 271, 849 P.2d 305, 308 (1993) ("[T]he district court must consider the state's underlying basic policy of deciding a case on the merits whenever possible.").

Here, the district court correctly applied the general rule from *LoMastro* given WFG's active efforts in contesting the same allegations deemed admitted against its codefendants through the Default Judgment. In replying to the MFR Opp, Dattala argued that *LoMastro* actually applies in his favor because WFG failed to participate in the default judgment proceedings. *See* 8 JA 1810-11. As mentioned, Dattala's

argument is factually misleading as the parties mutually understood that Dattala's default applications did not affect claims against WFG, which were already adjudicated via summary judgment motion practice. See 10 JA 2051-54, 2066, 2079. Further, Dattala's reliance on the intervenor exception in *LoMastro* is misplaced as, contrary to the insurer, WFG had contested Dattala's SAC allegations and obtained summary judgment ruling upon findings contrary to those stated in the Default Judgment. Cf. LoMastro, 124 Nev. at 1069, 195 P.3d at 345 (insurer waited to intervene until after default was entered against insured, and after insurer intervened it chose not to file a motion to set aside the default). Finally, just as evidence may be admitted against one party but not another, *LoMastro* recognizes that allegations may be admitted against one among several co-defendants. LoMastro, 124 Nev. at 1067 n.8, 195 P.3d at 344 ("The default of one defendant, although an admission by him of the allegations of the complaint, does not operate as an admission of such allegations as against a contesting co-defendant.") (citing State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Clark, 544 So. 2d 1141, 1142 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1989); see also NRS 47.110 (contemplating evidence may be admissible as to one party or for one purpose but inadmissible as to another party or for another purpose). Thus, the district court did not err in concluding that WFG was not bound by the Default Judgment against non-WFG codefendants, and its entry did not warrant reconsideration.

2. The Bursey Declaration was not previously unavailable evidence.

Dattala also sought reconsideration based on the Bursey Declaration, which the district court rejected based on his failure to demonstrate it was "newly discovered or previously unavailable" evidence. 8 JA 1830-31. On reconsideration, the district court is required only to consider a tardy affidavit (or declaration) if it constituted "newly discovered evidence" withing the meaning of Rule 59. See Wallis v. J.R. Simplot Co., 26 F.3d 885, 892 n.6 (9th Cir. 1994) (citing Coastal Transfer Co. v. Toyota Motor Sales, U.S.A., 833 F.2d 208, 211 (9th Cir. 1987)). Evidence is not newly discovered if it was in the party's possession at the time of summary judgment or could have been discovered with reasonable diligence. Id. (emphasis added); accord Drespel v. Drespel, 56 Nev. 368, 372, 45 P.2d 792, 793 (1935) (affirming the denial of a motion for a new trial and noting that "[t]here [wa]s no statement of facts in the affidavit showing that reasonable diligence had been exercised by the defendant prior to the trial to discover the [new evidence], nor is there an intimation of such diligence").

Here, the district court properly denied reconsideration based on the Bursey Declaration given Dattala's failure to explain why said declaration was not obtained during the discovery period. The Bursey Declaration recites events that predate Dattala's commencement of the underlying lawsuit, which Dattala could have

obtained through discovery from Bursey. *See* 8 JA 1817. Even if Dattala did not come into possession of the declaration until the same day it was filed, Dattala was required to explain why he did not obtain the written testimony before then and what diligence was exercised to obtain the written testimony. *See*, *e.g.*, *Pierce v. Skolnik*, No. 3:10-CV-0239-ECR-VPC, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1614, at *8 (D. Nev. Jan. 5, 2012) (denying defendants' motion for reconsideration finding that "defendants ... present one declaration that they omitted and one new declaration intended to correct their previous error" as remedying parties' errors is plainly not the objective of reconsideration motion); *Sonntag v. Gurries*, No. 3:09-cv-00637-ECR-VPC, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 96324, at *8 (D. Nev. Aug. 26, 2011) (same). Absent such evidence, the district court was not required to consider the Dattala's untimely evidence and, as such, did not abuse its discretion in refusing to do so.

3. The Bursey Declaration consisted of inadmissible hearsay statements by Medina used to prove the truth of Medina's representation of WFG.

In addition to rejecting the Bursey Declaration as "newly discovered evidence," the district court determined that Bursey's testimony regarding oral representations made by Medina constituted inadmissible hearsay. "Hearsay" is defined as "a statement offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. NRS 51.035(1). Hearsay statements are generally inadmissible unless it comes

within an exception. See Deutscher v. State, 95 Nev. 669, 684, 601 P.2d 407, 417 (1979) (citing 51.065). Traditionally, hearsay evidence has been excluded because it is not subject to the usual tests to show the credibility of the declarant. Lacking is cross-examination to ascertain a declarant's perception, memory and truthfulness. *Id*. (citing Moore v. United States, 429 U.S. 20, 21-22 (1976) (per curiam); Donnelly v. United States, 228 U.S. 243, 273 (1913)). These problems apply to the Bursey Declaration. Specifically, Bursey is testifying as to what Medina had allegedly said to him. Medina was not subject to cross-examination to test whether she, in fact, said what Bursey claims she said or as to the truthfulness of her statements. Thus, Bursey's testimony of what Medina told him is inadmissible hearsay. See, e.g., Alexander v. State, 84 Nev. 737, 449 P.2d 153 (1968) (defendant's testimony as to what a friend had said was hearsay); Smith v. State, No. 78439, 2020 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 385, at *6 (Apr. 15, 2020) (testimony from his daughter's friend's mother about what daughter said was hearsay, though admissible as excited utterance); Silveira v. Nev Ctv., No. 2:18-cv-00207-MMD-NJK, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 103989, at *20 n.8 (D. Nev. June 21, 2019) (plaintiff's testimony on what his mother told him other inmates constitutes inadmissible hearsay). Further, Dattala introduced the Medina statements to prove Medina represented or was acting on behalf of WFG as she stated to Bursey. Thus, the Bursey Declaration was being offered for its

substantive purpose rather than any non-hearsay purpose; Dattala does not reasonably argue that the occurrence of Medina's statement or surrounding circumstances are relevant to prove agency. Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion in disregarding the Bursey Declaration as inadmissible hearsay.

C. Dattala Waived Any Argument Against the District Court's Grant of Summary Judgment Against his Quiet Title/Declaratory Relief Claims.

It is well-settled that "[i]ssues not raised in an Dattala's opening brief are deemed waived." *Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 127 Nev. 156, 161 n.3, 252 P.3d 668, 672 n.3 (2011); *see also* NRAP 28(c) ("A reply brief... must be limited to answering any new matter set forth in the opposing brief."); *Khoury*, 132 Nev. at 530 n.2, 377 P.3d at 88 n.2 (citing NRAP 28(c)); *Francis v. Wynn Las Vegas, LLC*, 127 Nev. 657, 671 n.7, 262 P.3d 705, 715 n.7 (2011) (declining to consider an argument that the Dattala "raised ... for the first time in his reply brief, thereby depriving [the respondent] of a fair opportunity to respond"). Here, Dattala's opening brief omits any argument challenging the district court's grant of summary judgment in favor of WFG against his quiet title/declaratory relief claims. Therefore, Dattala must be precluded from raising them for the first time in his reply brief, if any.

VII. CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Respondent WFG respectfully requests that this Court

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